



CAJ/46/8Rev. *

ORIGINAL: English

DATE: April 10, 2003

INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR THE PROTECTION OF NEW VARIETIES OF PLANTS

GENEVA

ADMINISTRATIVE AND LEGAL COMMITTEE**Forty-Sixth Session
Geneva, October 21 and 22, 2002**

REPORT

*adopted by the Committee*Opening of the Session

1. The Administrative and Legal Committee (hereinafter referred to as "the Committee") held its forty-sixth session in Geneva, on October 21 and 22, 2002, under the chairmanship of Mrs. Nicole Bustin (France).
2. The list of participants is given in Annex I to this report.
3. The session was opened by the Chairperson, who welcomed the participants. She extended a special welcome to the Delegation of Latvia which had become a member of the Union since the preceding session of the Committee. The Delegation of Latvia expressed its gratitude to the Office of the Union and the member States for the assistance given to Latvia in the process of its accession to the 1991 Act of the UPOV Convention.

* The Committee decided at its forty-seventh session on April 10, 2003, to remove the information footnote concerning the word "hybrid" which appeared in document CAJ/46/8, on page 8 and on page 1 of Annex III.

Adoption of the Agenda

4. The Committee adopted the agenda as given in document CAJ/46/1.

Specific Issues Concerning the Interface Between Patents and Breeders' Rights

5. Discussions took place on document CAJ/46/2, which had been based on document CAJ/45/3 with the same title. The Vice Secretary -General introduced the document and informed the Committee about the WIPO -UPOV Symposium on the Co -existence of Patents and Plant Breeders' Rights in the Promotion of Biotechnological Developments, that was to be held in Geneva on October 25, 2002.

6. In relation to document CAJ/46/2, the Vice Secretary -General indicated that the basic purpose of the document was to illustrate the scope of protection and corresponding exceptions of the patent and plant breeders rights' systems; more precisely and, in particular, the comparison between the patent research exception and the breeder's exemption. It was important to raise awareness of the possible impact the presence of patented elements in plant material could have on the overall rate of progress in plant breeding.

7. Several delegations and organizations expressed their views on the issues that may arise if the patent right inhibits the breeder's exemption. Extensive discussions took place in relation to paragraph 25 which provided various cases to assist in the understanding of how certain uses might infringe a patent.

8. The Delegation of the United States of America suggested an amendment to the title and subtitle of Section I in order to provide a more accurate reflection of the issues. It wondered whether the cases to illustrate those problems were theoretical or supported by evidence. It added that infringement was a complicated area. The Delegation made different proposals suggesting the redrafting of paragraphs 3, 29 and 30, mainly in order to refer to the national laws and to avoid any interpretation of the TRIPS Agreement that could go beyond the scope of the UPOV Convention.

9. In relation to the proposal of the Delegation of the United States of America to reduce paragraph 30(a) by ending it after the word "breeders," the Delegation of Mexico considered it important to keep the last part of paragraph 30(a) "ensures that the development of new varieties is not inhibited;"

10. The Delegation of France further suggested some reorganization of the cases in paragraph 25.

11. The Chairperson summarized the discussions indicating that there was general agreement that some redrafting of the document by the Office of the Union, with the assistance of the Delegations concerned, was needed in order to reflect the views expressed by the Committee.

12. The changes, as proposed by the Vice Secretary -General and agreed by the Committee, are reproduced in Annex II, for ease of reference.

13. Conclusion: The Committee agreed with the contents of document CAJ/46/2 as amended by the Committee and:

(a) noted that the EDV provision in the UPOV Convention provided a mechanism for rewarding plant breeders and ensured that the development of new varieties was not inhibited;

(b) noted the potential difficulties in using cross -compulsory licensing as a means to address the lack of a breeder's exemption in the patent system;

(c) noted the consequences for breeding progress if the breeder's exemption was negated or inhibited through the presence of patented inventions in plant varieties; and

(d) recommended to members of the Union to consider, where appropriate, whether the nature of the research exemption in their patent laws concerning plants might inhibit the breeder's exemption.

Publication of Variety Descriptions

14. Discussions were based on document CAJ/46/3. The Vice Secretary -General introduced the document and noted that, at its forty -fifth session, in Geneva, on April 18, 2002, the Committee approved the schedule of activities for the project related to the publication of variety descriptions (see Section 6 of the Annex to document CAJ/45/4). He further noted that the project focused on two main aspects: firstly, the need for a model study to investigate and develop solutions to the technical issues concerning the possible development and publication of variety descriptions, at the international level, in an effective way; and secondly, that there were important legal, administrative and financial issues which would need to be resolved, by the Committee, before considering the possible introduction of an international system for the publication of variety descriptions. Document CAJ/46/3 dealt with the second aspect, namely the administrative, legal and financial matters and, in particular, the consideration by the Committee of a draft questionnaire to be sent to the authorities responsible for granting plant breeders' rights.

15. The Delegation of Germany made a request for the questionnaire to include information on whether authorities used photographs in the process of publication of variety descriptions and, if so, for which species. It considered that photographs could be very useful in the field of ornamental varieties.

16. The Vice Secretary -General confirmed that the appropriate modification to the questionnaire would be made in order to take up the suggestion made by the Delegation of Germany.

17. The Delegation of the Netherlands noted that the phenotype of varieties and, consequently, variety descriptions were closely related to the conditions under which varieties were grown. It wondered whether these aspects should also be included in the questionnaire.

18. The Technical Director clarified that this was a matter which would be dealt with by the Technical Committee in its work on this project.

19. The Delegation of Colombia suggested the inclusion of a question concerning varieties in commercial registers which are not protected by breeders' rights.

20. The Vice Secretary -General recalled that the project intended to deal with protected varieties as a first step. The inclusion of non -protected varieties would be considered at a later stage. It was agreed that it should be clarified that the question related to protected varieties.

21. The Delegation of the Republic of Korea expressed the wish that the questionnaire would take into consideration some technical questions in relation to reference varieties. The Vice Secretary-General suggested that those considerations be dealt with within the work of the Technical Committee on the proposals for species, or the *Ad hoc* Working Group on Publication of Variety Descriptions.

22. The Delegation of Belgium noted that some clarification might be needed for the second and the third box in question 22. Following a proposal by the Chairperson, it was agreed that an additional box requesting comments on the reply should be added at the end of question 22.

23. The Delegation of the Russian Federation suggested substitution of the slash in questions 18 and 19 by the word “and,” and questioned whether “jointly” should be replaced by “combination” in question 18.

24. It was agreed that the footnote in question 15 should be reduced to a list of what might be considered “interested parties.” The remainder of the footnote would be deleted. Following this decision, the Delegation of France underlined the importance to clearly indicate the objectives and the context of this questionnaire.

25. The Chairperson summarized the discussions and identified all the amendments to the draft questionnaire.

26. **Conclusion:** The Committee agreed with the proposed questionnaire as amended. This questionnaire would be sent to members of the Committee and one organization responsible for granting breeders’ rights. A summary of the responses to the questionnaire, with a clear indication of the objectives and the context of this questionnaire, would be prepared by the Office of the Union and presented to the Committee for its consideration at its forty-seventh session in April 2003.

Issues Concerning the Use of Material Submitted for Examination of Distinctness, Uniformity and Stability

27. Discussions were based on document CAJ/46/4. The Vice Secretary-General introduced the document. Its purpose was to explore the importance of including plant material of candidate varieties, submitted by the applicant, in the collections of varieties used by authorities for the examination of distinctness, uniformity and stability (DUS). Furthermore, it identified the issues which can arise when this practice cannot be freely undertaken. In particular, it considered the situation where a breeder might wish to attach conditions to the use of plant material for such practices, or where the breeder did not permit such practice at all.

28. The representative of the International Association of Breeders of Ornamental and Fruit Plants (CIOFORA) requested a change in paragraph 5, in particular, the deletion of the sentence “... or use of plant material by the original authority after the DUS examination is complete ... candidate varieties.” After the clarifications provided by the Chairperson, the Vice Secretary-General and the Delegation of France, paragraph 5 was retained unchanged, as it indicated the importance of this activity as the basis for the examination of other candidate varieties.

29. Discussion also took place in relation to paragraph 8. The representative of CIOPORA was concerned by the effect of the publishing of detailed descriptions on the novelty of varieties. The Delegation of the Netherlands stated that the UPOV Convention clearly established that novelty was not affected by the publication of a variety description. The Chairperson further clarified that a publication would be enough to establish common knowledge, but would not be enough to establish novelty.

30. In relation to paragraph 12, the Delegation of France and the representative of the European Community were concerned about the importance given to a published variety description in the examination of distinctness in cases where varieties were unavailable for comparison in growing tests or other trials. In reply to this concern, the Vice Secretary General proposed to add the term "subject to technical reliability" after the words in the third sentence "importance of the publication of variety descriptions." In this regard, the Vice Secretary-General further added that this wording was in line with the wording used in paragraph 13(ii) in the conclusion of this document "a system of publishing variety descriptions may, if based on technical information considered to be reliable by the Technical Committee,..."

31. The representative of CIOPORA expressed certain concerns regarding the use of material supplied by plant breeders to technical examination centers if the examination centers were themselves involved in breeding activities.

32. The representative of the European Community indicated that, in those cases, the Community Plant Variety Office (CPVO) requested specific protocols to guarantee that the persons involved in the testing were not involved in breeding activities.

33. The Chairperson proposed to include on the agenda for future work, a specific item to determine how UPOV should explore this matter, if appropriate with the assistance of a questionnaire, and also whether to recommend draft model agreements concerning the use of material which might assist to clarify, provide guidance and offer reassurance to plant breeders.

34. The representative of the International Seed Federation (ISF) proposed its assistance to the Office of the Union by providing a model agreement concerning the use of the material submitted by the breeder.

35. The Delegation of Spain agreed with the proposal from ISF and encouraged the Office of the Union to work on the preparation of model agreements. It explained that, recently, when requesting material from breeders, the Office of Spain had received contracts that restricted the supply of material to other authorities. This was not confined to material concerning parental lines, but also in relation to varieties which could be found in the market. The Delegation also emphasized the need for the breeders' community to facilitate the examination of varieties, for the benefit of the whole protection system.

36. The Delegation of France also indicated that they could make their experience available on similar types of matters and agreements, concerning testing and related obligations.

37. Conclusion: The Committee agreed with the conclusions in paragraph 13 of document CAJ/46/4. In particular, it noted that:

(a) some authorities have established collections of plant material of varieties of common knowledge for the purposes of examination but need to consider how to manage plant

material of candidate varieties provided by the breeder, as a part of the application, if conditions are attached to its use for such a purpose;

(b) a system of publishing variety descriptions may, if based on technical information considered to be reliable by the Technical Committee, offer an effective means of examining distinctness to address situations where plant material of varieties was unavailable for comparison in growing tests or other trials.

38. Furthermore, the following topics were identified for future discussion by the Committee:

- (a) arrangements for the transfer of material
 - (i) from the breeder to the examination authority, and
 - (ii) between examination authorities.

In particular, it was suggested that UPOV might consider the development of standard model agreements for such transfers;

(b) recommendations to ensure the independence of those DUS examination centers which have, or have links to, breeding activities.

39. The Committee agreed with the future work as proposed in paragraph 38.

Variety Denominations

40. Discussions were based on document CAJ/46/5. The Vice Secretary -General introduced the document and reported on the third meeting of the *Ad hoc* Working Group on Variety Denominations (the Working Group), held in Geneva on October 21, 2002. In relation to the document, it was highlighted that, in parallel to the activities of the Working Group within UPOV, the CPVO and the International Union of Biological Sciences (IUBS) Commission were also working on matters related to variety denominations. The Working Group had coordinated its efforts on this issue with those two Organizations.

41. The Vice Secretary -General further indicated that the two main items of the agenda of the Working Group, during its third meeting, were a first round of discussions on the draft explanatory notes on Article 20 of the 1991 Act of the UPOV Convention concerning variety denominations (document WG -VD/3/2), and a second item providing information on the replies to the questionnaire seeking information on how the effectiveness of the UPOV -ROM might be improved (document WG -VD/3/3). The Vice Secretary -General gave the floor to the Senior Legal Officer to inform on the advancement of the discussions of the draft explanatory notes.

42. The Senior Legal Officer indicated that, at this stage, it was too early to provide any results on the discussions concerning the draft explanatory notes. She indicated that the draft explanatory notes were clearly linked to the relevant provisions of Article 20 of the 1991 Act of the UPOV Convention and, whenever possible, they also referred to the existing recommendations. The current draft had the objective to provide clarity and the required flexibility to allow for a harmonized approach in decisions concerning variety denominations. In particular, the intention was to follow, as far as possible, the principle provided in

Article 20(5) of the 1991 Act that, unless the proposed denomination was unsuitable in the particular territory, the same denomination should be proposed and registered in all members of the Union. The different drafts of the explanatory notes would be made available for consultation by the Committee members in this restricted area of the UPOV Website, where the documents of the Working Group were posted.

43. The Technical Director informed the Committee on the decision of the Working Group, made at its second meeting, to prepare a questionnaire to investigate how the effectiveness of the UPOV -ROM might be improved. A powerpoint presentation was made to the Committee in order to illustrate the summary of the responses to the questionnaire. The analysis of those replies led to a proposal, by the Office of the Union, for a program to improve the effectiveness of the UPOV -ROM. This proposal was made in relation to existing projects already underway, matters specifically concerning variety denominations and general improvements. Regarding variety denominations, the results of the questionnaire suggested that further consideration should be given by the Working Group to allow, under certain circumstances, different variety denominations in different territories. Furthermore, it suggested that the Working Group might examine the feasibility of the UPOV -ROM becoming one means by which authorities could comply with the requirement of Article 20(6) of the 1991 Act of the UPOV Convention, to inform other members of the Union of matters concerning variety denominations. A document containing an analysis of the responses to the questionnaire will be presented to the Committee in a separate agenda item with a corresponding document for consideration by the Committee at its next session.

44. **Conclusion:** The Committee noted the contents of document CAJ/46/5 and the oral reports made by the Vice Secretary -General, the Technical Director and the Senior Legal Officer.

Protection of Hybrid Varieties Through Protection of Parent Lines

45. Discussions were based on document CAJ/46/6. The Vice Secretary -General introduced the document and indicated that its purpose was, in response to a request from the Technical Committee, to consider the protection of hybrid varieties through protection of parent lines. He recalled that this request had arisen, in particular, because of the development of hybrid varieties in the ornamental sector. In some cases, the same parent line was used in many different hybrid varieties and breeders, conscious of the cost of protecting all the individual hybrid varieties, noted that, in such cases, protection of a series of hybrid varieties could be achieved by protection of the single parent line common to all the hybrids in the series, provided that the parent line fulfilled all the conditions for, and protection is granted. The Vice Secretary-General highlighted the difference between the protection provided by Article 14(5)(a)(iii) of the 1991 Act and that provided by Article 5(3) of the 1978 Act.

46. With regard to paragraph 5 of the document, it was noted that it was a matter for each State party to the 1978 Act to interpret Article 5(3) of that Act and to decide whether, in the example given, a hybrid would be covered by the protection of one or more of the parent lines.

47. It was agreed that the document should emphasize that the 1991 Act of the UPOV Convention only allowed extension of protection to a hybrid variety, by protection of one or more of the parent lines, if there is "repeated use" of such parent lines for the production of the hybrid varieties. Thus, it should be clarified that repeated use of parent lines might not be required if a "hybrid" variety can be produced by vegetative propagation or apomixis.

48. The Delegation of the Netherlands proposed that, in paragraph 6, the phrase "... obtain protection for his hybrid varieties ..." should be replaced by "extend protection to his hybrid varieties." The Delegation of Switzerland noted that that proposed change would need to be reflected throughout the document and, in particular, in the title of the document. Thus, it was agreed that the title should read "Extension of protection to hybrid varieties through protection of parent lines."

49. Conclusion: The Chair person concluded that the situation with regard to hybrid varieties under the 1991 Act was clear, but that the situation under the 1978 Act was a matter to be interpreted by each State party. Furthermore, with regard to the 1991 Act, it had been agreed that the protection provided by a breeder's certificate for a parent line would extend to hybrid varieties, provided there was repeated use of such a parent line for the production of the hybrid varieties. She further noted that it was for each plant breeder to determine whether it would be appropriate to make use of the extended protection of parent lines or to seek to obtain protection of the hybrid variety itself. Annex III presents document CAJ/46/6 as amended by the agreed changes.

The Notion of "Essentially Derived Variety" in the Breeding of Ornamental Varieties

50. The Chair person informed the Committee that due to time constraints it was not possible to deal with the last item of the agenda concerning "The notion of 'essentially derived variety' in the breeding of ornamental varieties" (document CAJ/46/7). Following the proposal by the Chair person, the Committee decided to defer discussions on this item to its April 2003 session.

Program for the Forty-Seventh Session

51. It was agreed that the program for the forty-seventh session would include the following items:

1. The notion of "essentially derived variety" in the breeding of ornamental varieties
2. Specific issues concerning the interface between patents and breeders' rights
3. Publication of variety descriptions
4. Transfer of material for the purposes of examination of distinctness, uniformity and stability
5. Review of the UPOV-ROM Plant Variety Database
6. Variety denominations.

52. Before closing the session, the Chair person gave the floor to the Delegation of the United States of America at the request of some delegations that wanted to receive information of the current situation on how the novelty provision was applied under the Plant Patent Act.

53. The Delegation of the United States of America explained the situation in that country and the three forms of protection available for plant varieties. One form of protection was the standard patent, also known as the utility patent. It clarified that the issue to be discussed did not concern applicants filing for utility patents and, in particular, the novelty provision remained the same. The second form of protection was the Plant Variety Protection Act, which was consistent with the UPOV Convention and on which no concerns had been raised. What had raised concern and uncertainty amongst breeders was a situation concerning the third form of protection, the Plant Patent Act which was applied to asexually reproduced plants. The novelty provisions applicable to utility patents were also applied to the Plant Patent Act. In that regard, there had been a case law which applied the novelty provisions under utility patents to a plant variety and had an impact on the way the Plant Patent Act was implemented. The Delegation indicated that examiners in the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) were making rejections based on the evidence of a breeder's certificate in combination with the evidence of "on-sale in a foreign country" commercial availability of the plant variety in a foreign country. A regulation in United States law provides examiners with the ability to request further information from applicants. Thus, if examiners find a breeder's certificate that was evidence of prior art, "they would then ask whether there was evidence of "on-sale in a foreign country." If this were the case, then the examiners might retain a rejection of novelty, indicating that the plant variety was not novel. That was a change because previously to that case law, a breeder's certificate was not considered to be an "enabling publication." Based on that case law, evidence of "on-sale in a foreign country," in combination with a "breeder's certificate," was now considered to be an enabling publication, therefore defeated novelty. This had raised uncertainty amongst breeders in the plant variety circles, and breeders who had previously received a breeder's certificate in a foreign country and had started marketing that plant variety in foreign countries, could not file in the United States of America without fear that they would receive a rejection as the plant variety would not be considered novel. Indeed, rejections were now being made if there was evidence of a breeder's certificate and evidence of "on-sale in a foreign country."

54. The Delegation further added that there was a hearing in the United States Congress under one of the Sub-committees where constituent Congressman Issa introduced a Bill that presented a 10-year grace period indicating that "Prior Art" would not defeat novelty for a 10-year period. However, the Bill did not receive sufficient support with other constituents. The Bill was being re-examined, but it was unclear whether it was dead in the Sub-committee or not. Noting that the Director of USPTO was the Under Secretary for Intellectual Property and, as such, responsible for handling the legislative issues that went before the Congress, the Delegation requested that breeders who had any evidence of the negative impact of this change on their business send such evidence to the USPTO to support their cause. This would make it easier to convince Congress that the situation was having an impact on industry rather than just creating an uncertainty about the legislation. The Delegation expressed its wish to clarify the situation and indicated its willingness to discuss the matter further after the meeting of the Committee.

55. The present report has been adopted by correspondence.

[Annex Ifollows]

ANNEXEI/ANNEXI/ANLAGEI/ANEXO I

LISTEDES PARTICIPANTS/ LISTOF PARTICIPANTS/
TEILNEHMERLISTE/ LISTADE PARTICIPANTES

I. ÉTATS MEMBRES/MEMBER STATES/VERBANDSSTAATEN/
ESTADOSMIEMBROS

ALLEMAGNE/GERMANY/DEUTSCHLAND/ALEMANIA

Michael KÖLLER, Leiter Rechtsreferat, Regierungsdirektor, Bundessortenamt,
Osterfelddamm 80, 30627 Hannover (tel.: +49 51 19566624 fax: +49 51 1563362/95665
e-mail: michael.koeller@bundessortenamt.de)

AUSTRALIE/AUSTRALIA/AUSTRALIEN

Doug WATERHOUSE, Registrar, Plant Breeders' Rights Office, Department of Primary
Industries and Energy, Commonwealth Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry,
P.O. Box 858, Canberra, ACT 2601 (tel.: +61 2 62723888 fax: +61 2 62723650
e-mail: doug.waterhouse@affa.gov.au)

AUTRICHE/AUSTRIA/ ÖSTERREICH

Heinz-Peter ZACH, Referatsleiter für Saatgut und Sorten, Bundesministerium für Land- und
Forstwirtschaft, Umwelt und Wasserwirtschaft, Stubenring 1, 1010 Wien
(tel.: +43 1 71 100 2795 fax: +43 1 51 387 22e-mail: Heinz-Peter.Zach@bmlf.gv.at)

Birgit KUSCHER (Frau), Referentin Sortenschutzrecht, Bundesministerium für Land- und
Forstwirtschaft, Umwelt und Wasserwirtschaft, Stubenring 1, 1010 Wien
(tel.: +43 1 71 100 6668 fax: +43 1 71 100 6503e-mail: birgit.kuscher@bmlfuw.gv.at)

Alois LEIDWEIN, Attaché für Agrar- und Umweltangelegenheiten, Ständige Vertretung,
35-37, avenue Giuseppe Motta, Genf, Schweiz (tel.: +41 22 748 2043 fax: +41 22 748 8040)

BELGIQUE/BELGIUM/BELGIEN/BÉLGICA

Camille VANSLEMBROUCK (Mme), Ingénieur, Office de la propriété intellectuelle,
Ministère des affaires économiques, 16, boulevard Albert II, 1000 Bruxelles (tel.: +32 22 064 818
fax: +32 22 065 750e-mail: camille.vanslembrouck@mineco.fgov.be)

BOLIVIE/BOLIVIA/BOLIVIEN

Roberto GALLOARÉBALO, Responsable Técnico, Programa Nacional de Semillas, Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Desarrollo Rural, Avda. 6 de Agosto 2006, Ed. V Centenario, Piso 1, Casilla 4793, La Paz (tel.: +591 2244 1608 fax: +591 2244 1153 e-mail: area_tecnica@accelerate.com)

Jorge ROSALES KING, Director, Oficina Regional de Semillas, Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Desarrollo Rural, Casilla postal 2736, Santa Cruz de la Sierra (tel.: +591 33523272 fax: +591 33523056 e-mail: jrosales@unete.com)

Carmelo JUSTINIANO, Jefe, División de Registros, Oficina Regional de Semillas, Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Desarrollo Rural, Av. Santos Dumont Calle Cap., Casilla postal 2736, Santa Cruz de la Sierra (tel.: +591 33523272 fax: +591 33523056 e-mail: seed@roble.scz.entelnet.bo)

BRÉSIL/BRAZIL/BRASILIEN/BRASIL

Ariete DUARTE FOLLE (Sra.), Chefe, Serviço Nacional de Proteção de Cultivares (SNPC), Secretariade Desenvolvimento Rural, Ministério da Agricultura e do Abastecimento, Esplanadados Ministérios, Bloco D, Anexo A, Térreo, Salas 1 -12, Brasília, D.F. 70043 -900 (tel.: +55 61 2182 163 fax: +55 61 2242 842 e-mail: ariete@agricultura.gov.br)

Alvaro A. NUNES VIANA, Coordenador, Serviço Nacional de Proteção de Cultivares (SNPC), Secretariade Desenvolvimento Rural, Ministério da Agricultura e do Abastecimento, Esplanadados Ministérios, Bloco D, Anexo A, Térreo, Salas 1 -12, Brasília, D.F. 70043 -900 (tel.: +55 61 2242 842 fax: +55 61 2242 842 e-mail: aviana@agricultura.gov.br)

CANADA/CANADA/KANADA/CANADÁ

Valerie SISSON (Ms.), Commissioner, Plant Breeders' Rights Office, Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), Camelot Court, 59, Camelot Drive, Nepean, Ontario K1A 0Y9 (tel.: +1 613 225 2342 fax: +1 613 228 6629 e-mail: vsisson@inspection.gc.ca)

CHILI/CHILE

Enzo CERDA, Jefe de Registro de Variedades Protegidas, Departamento de Semillas, Servicio Agrícola y Ganadero, Ministerio de Agricultura, Avda. Bulnes 140, piso 2, Casilla 1167-21 Santiago (tel.: +56 2696 2996 fax: +56 2697 2179 e-mail: enzo.cerda@sag.gob.cl)

CHINE/CHINA

QIAODexi ,DirectorGeneral,DepartmentforInternationalCooperation,StateIntellectual
PropertyOffice,P.O.Box8020,6,XituchengRoad,HaidianDistrict,Beijing100088
(tel.:+861062093268fax:+86 1062019615e -mail:liyanmei@sipo.gov.cn)

LÜBo,Director,DUSTestDivision,DevelopmentCenterforScienceandTechnology,
MinistryofAgriculture,Building18,MaiZiDianStreet,Beijing100026
(tel.:+861065925213fax:+861065925213e -mail:lvbo@agri.gov.cn)

LIYanmei(Mrs.),ProjectAdministrator,DepartmentforInternationalCooperation,State
IntellectualPropertyOffice(SIPO),P.O.Box8020,6,XituchengRoad,HaidianDistrict,
Beijing100088(tel.:+861062093288fax:+86106 2019615
e-mail:liyanmei@sipo.gov.cn)

COLOMBIE/COLOMBIA/KOLUMBIEN

AnaLuisaDÍAZJIMÉNEZ(Sra.),CoordinadorNacional,DerechosdeObtentorde
VariedadesyProduccióndeSemillas,InstitutoColombianoAgropecuario(ICA),Calle37,
8-43,Piso 4,BogotáD.F.(tel.:+5712328643fax:+5712324697ext.371
e-mail:semillas@ica.gov.co)

LuisG.GUZMANVALENCIA,MinistroConsejero,MisiónPermanente,17 -19,chemindu
Champ-d'Anier,1209Ginebra,Suiza

CROATIE/CROATIA/KROATIEN/CROAC IA

Krunoslava ČERMAK-HORBEC(Ms.),SeniorCounsellor,MinistryofAgricultureand
Forestry,UlicagradaVukovara78,P.P.1034,10000Zagreb(tel.:+38516106632
fax:+38516109202)

RužicaORE(Mrs.),HeadofPlantVarietyProtectionandRegistratio n,InstituteforSeedsand
Seedlings,Vinkovackacesta63c,31000Osijek(tel.:+38531275206
fax:+38531275193e -mail:r.ore@zsr.hr)

DANEMARK/DENMARK/DÄNEMARK/DINAMARCA

HansJørgenANDERSEN,HeadofDivision,TheDanishPlantDirectorate ,MinistryofFood,
AgricultureandFisheries,Skovbrynet20,2800Lyngby(tel.:+4545263600
fax:+4545263610e -mail:hja@pdir.dk)

ESPAGNE/SPAIN/SPANIEN/ESPAÑA

Luis SALAIQUES, Jefe de Área del Registro de Variedades, Oficina Española de Variedades Vegetales (OEVV), Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación (MAPA), Avda. de Ciudad de Barcelona No. 6, 28007 Madrid (tel.: +34913476712 fax: +34913476703 e-mail: lsalaice@mapya.es)

ESTONIE/ESTONIA/ESTLAND

Pille ARDEL (Mrs.), Head of Department, Plant Production Inspectorate, Variety Control Department, 71024 Viljandi (tel.: +3724334650 fax: +3724334650 e-mail: pille.ardel@plant.agri.ee)

ÉTATS-UNIS D'AMÉRIQUE/UNITED STATES OF AMERICA/VEREINIGTE STAATEN VON AMERIKA/ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMÉRICA

Karen M. HAUDA (Ms.), Patent Attorney, Office of Legislative and International Affairs, United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO), Department of Commerce, Box 4, Washington, D.C. 20231, D.C. (tel.: +17033059300 fax: +17033058885 e-mail: karen.hauda@uspto.gov)

Paul M. ZANKOWSKI, Commissioner, Plant Variety Protection Office, Agricultural Marketing Service, United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), Beltsville, MD 20705-2351 (tel.: +13015045518 fax: +13015045291 e-mail: paul.zankowski@usda.gov)

Dominic KEATING, Intellectual Property Attaché, Office of the United States Trade Representative (USTR), Permanent Mission, 11, route de Pregny, 1291 Chambésy, Switzerland (tel.: +41227495281 fax: +41227494880)

FÉDÉRATION DE RUSSIE/RUSSIAN FEDERATION/RUSSISCHE FÖDERATION/FEDERACIÓN DE RUSIA

Yuri A. ROGOVSKIY, Deputy Chairman, Chief of Methods Department, State Commission of the Russian Federation for Selection Achievements Test and Protection, Orlikov per., 1/11, Moscow 107139 (tel.: +700952086775 fax: +700952078626 e-mail: statecommission@mtu-net.ru)

Madina OUMAROVA (Mrs.), Expert of Methods Department, State Commission of the Russian Federation for Selection Achievements Test and Protection, Orlikov per. 1/11, Moscow 107139 (tel.: +700952086775 fax: +700952078626 e-mail: desel@agro.aris.ru)

FINLANDE/FINLAND/FINNLAND/FINLANDIA

Arto VUORI, Director, Plant Variety Rights Office, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry,
Hallituskatu 3A, P.O. Box 30, 00023 Government (tel.: +91 603316 fax: +91 6052203
e-mail: arto.vuori@mmm.fi)

FRANCE/FRANCE/FRANKREICH/FRANCIA

Bernard MATHON, Chef, Bureau des semences, Ministère de l'agriculture et de la pêche,
3, rue Barbet de Jouy, 75349 Paris 07 SP (tel.: +33 1 49 55 45 79 fax: +33 1 49 55 50 75
e-mail: bernard.mathon@agriculture.gouv.fr)

Nicole BUSTIN (Mlle), Secrétaire général, Comité de la protection des obtentions végétales
(CPOV), Ministère de l'agriculture et de la pêche, 11, rue Jean Nicot, 75007 Paris
(tel.: +33 1 42 75 93 14 fax: +33 1 42 75 94 25 e-mail: nicole.bustin@geves.fr)

Joël GUIARD, Directeur adjoint, Groupe d'étude et de contrôle des variétés et des semences
(GEVES), La Minière, 78285 Guyancourt Cedex
(tel.: +33 1 30 83 35 80 fax: +33 1 30 83 36 29 e-mail: joel.guiard@geves.fr)

HONGRIE/HUNGARY/UNGARN/HUNGRÍA

Gusztáv VÉKÁS, President, Hungarian Intellectual Property Protection Council, Hungarian
Patent Office, Garibaldi u. 2, P.O. Box 552, 1054 Budapest (tel.: +36 1 33 12 164
fax: +36 1 47 45 97 5 e-mail: vekas@hpo.hu)

Mária PETZ -STIFTER (Mrs.), Patent Examiner, Hungarian Patent Office, Garibaldi u. 2,
P.O. Box 552, 1054 Budapest (tel.: +36 1 47 45 90 7 fax: +36 1 47 95 89 9
e-mail: petzne @hpo.hu)

IRLANDE/IRELAND/IRLAND/IRLANDA

John V. CARVILL, Controller of Plant Breeders' Rights, Plant Variety Rights Office,
Department of Agriculture & Food, Backweston, Leixlip, Co. Kildare
(tel.: +353 1 630 290 2 fax: +353 1 628 063 4 e-mail: john.carvill@agriculture.gov.ie)

ISRAËL/ISRAEL

Shalom BERLAND, Legal Advisor of Ministry of Agriculture and Plant Breeders' Registrar,
Plant Breeders' Rights Council, Volcani Centre, P.O. Box 30, Bet Dagan
(tel.: +972 39 485 56 6 fax: +972 39 485 83 6)

JAPON/JAPAN/JAPÓN

Toyoharu FUKUDA, Director, Seeds and Seedlings Division, Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (MAFF), 1-2-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku, 100-8950 Tokyo
(tel.: +81335910524 fax: +81335026572 -mail: toyoharu_fukuda@nm.maff.go.jp)

Jun KOIDE, Deputy Director, International Affairs, Seeds and Seedlings Division, Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (MAFF), 1-2-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku, 100-8950 Tokyo (tel.: +81335910524 fax: +81335026572
e-mail: jun_koide@nm.maff.go.jp)

Masayoshi MIZUNO, First Secretary, Permanent Mission, 3, chemin des Fins, 1211 Grand-Saconnex, Switzerland
(tel.: +41227173111 fax: +41227883811e -mail: mizuno.masayoshi@bluewin.ch)

KENYA/KENIA

Chagema John KEDERA, Managing Director, Kenya Plant Health Inspectorate Service (KEPHIS), Waiyaki Way, P.O. Box 49592, Nairobi
(tel.: +25424440087 fax: +25424448940e -mail: kephis@nbnet.co.ke)

Evans O. SIKINYI, Registrar, Plant Breeders' Rights Office, Kenya Plant Health Inspectorate Service (KEPHIS), Waiyaki Way, P.O. Box 49592, Nairobi (tel.: +25424448940e -mail: kephis@nbnet.co.ke)

LETONIE/LATVIA/LETTLAND/LETONIA

Iveta OZOLINA (Ms.), Senior Officer, Plant Production Division, Ministry of Agriculture, 2 Republikas laukums, 1981 Riga (tel.: +3717027258
fax: +3717027514e -mail: iveta.ozolina@zm.gov.lv)

MEXIQUE/MEXICO/MEXIKO/MÉXICO

Enriqueta MOLINAMACÍAS (Sra.), Encargada del Despacho de la Dirección, Servicio Nacional de Inspección y Certificación de Semillas (SNICS), Secretaría de Agricultura, Ganadería y Desarrollo Rural, Av. Presidente Juárez Núm. 13, Col. El Cortijo, 54000 Tlalnepantla, Estado de México (tel.: +525553842213 fax: +525553901441
e-mail: enriqueta.molina@webtelmex.net.mx)

Karla T. ORNELAS LOERA (Sra.), Tercer Secretaria, Misión Permanente, 16, avenue de Budé, 1202 Ginebra, Suiza (tel.: +41227480707 fax: +41227480708
e-mail: kornelas@sre.gob.mx)

NORVÈGE/NORWAY/NORWEGEN/ NORUEGA

KåreSELVIK, DirectorGeneral, HeadofPlantVarietyBoard, RoyalMinistryofAgriculture,
Akersgt.059, P.O.Box8007Dep.,0030Oslo(tel.:+4722249253fax:+4722242753
e-mail:kare.selvik@ld.dep.no)

HaakonSØNJU, Registrar, ThePla ntVarietyBoard, P.O.Box3, 1431Ås
(tel.:+4764944400fax:+4764944410e -mail:haakon.sonju@slt.dep.no)

VeslemøyGUNDERSEN(Ms.), LegalAdvisor, RoyalMinistryofAgriculture, Akersgt.059,
P.O.Box8007Dep.,0030Oslo(tel.: 4722249277
e-mail:veslemoy -susanne.gundersen@ld.dep.no);

PAYS-BAS/NETHERLANDS/NIEDERLANDE/PAÍSESBAJOS

KrienoAdriaanFIKKERT, Secretary, BoardforPlantBreeders'Rights, Postbus104, 6700 AC
Wageningen
(tel.:+31317478090fax:+31317425867e -mail: k.a.fikkert@rkr.agro.nl)

BertramBURGGRAAF, LegalAdviser, DepartmentofLegalAffairs, MinistryofAgriculture,
NatureManagement&Fisheries, Postbus20401, 2500EKTheHague
(tel.:+31703785299fax:+31703786127e -mail:b.burggraaf@jz.agro.nl)

POLOGNE/POLAND/POLEN/POLONIA

EdwardS.GACEK, DirectorGeneral, ResearchCentreforCultivarTesting(COBORU),
63-022SlupiaWielka
(tel.:+48612852341fax:+48612853558e -mail:e.gacek_coboru@bptnet.pl)

JuliaBORYS(Mrs.), Head, DUST estingDepartment, ResearchCentreforCultivarTesting
(COBORU), 63 -022SlupiaWielka
(tel.:+48612852341fax:+48612853558e -mail:coboru@bptnet.pl)

PORTUGAL

CarlosPEREIRAGODINHO, Chefe, CentroNacionaldeRegistodeVariedadesProtegidas ,
DirecçãoGeraldeProtecçãoodasCulturas(DGPC), MinisteriodaAgricultura, do
DesenvolvimentoRuraledasPescas, EdificioII, TapadadaAjuda, 1349 -018Lisboa
(tel.:+351213613216fax:+351213613222e -mail:cgodinho@dgpc.min -agricultura.pt)

RÉPUBLIQUEDECORÉE/REPUBLICOFKOREA/REPUBLIKKOREA/REPÚBLICA
DECOREA

LEEBYUNG MUK, Director, Plant Variety Protection Division, National Seed Management
Office, 433 Anyang 6 -dong, Anyang -si, 430 -016
(tel.: +82314670150 fax: +82314670161 e-mail: byungm@seed.go.kr)

CHOI KEUN JIN, Examination Officer, Plant Variety Protection Division, National Seed
Management Office, 433 Anyang 6 -dong, Anyang -si, 430 -016
(tel.: +82314670190 fax: +82314670161 e-mail: kjchoi@seed.go.kr)

RÉPUBLIQUE DE MOLDOVA/REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA/REPUBLIK MOLDAU/
REPÚBLICA DE MOLDOVA

DUMITRU BRINZILA, President, State Commission for Crop Variety Testing and Registration,
Bd. Stefan cel Mare 162, 2004 Chisinau
(tel.: +3732246222 fax: +3732246921 e-mail: brinzila@csip.moldova.md)

RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE/CZECH REPUBLIC/TSCHECHISCHE REPUBLIK/
REPÚBLICA CHECA

IVAN BRANŽOVSKÝ, Head of Section, Department of Agricultural Production, Ministry of
Agriculture, Tesnov 17, 11705 Praha 1
(tel.: +420221812693 fax: +420221812989 e-mail: branzovsky@mze.cz)

JIRÍ SOUCEK, Head of Department, Department of Plant Variety Rights and DUS Tests,
Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture (ÚKZÚZ), Zaoprávnou 4,
150 06 Praha 5 - Motol
(tel.: +420257211755 fax: +420257211752 e-mail: jiri.soucek@ukzuz.cz)

DANIEL JUREČKA, Head, Plant Variety Testing Department, Central Institute for Supervising
and Testing in Agriculture, Hroznová 2, 656 06 Brno
(tel.: +420543217646 fax: +420543212440 e-mail: daniel.jurecka@ukzuz.cz)

ROUMANIE/ROMANIA/RUMÄNIEN/RUMANIA

Adriana PARASCHIV (Mrs.), Head, Light Industry and Agricultural Division, State Office for Inventions and Trademarks (OSIM), 5, Jon Ghica, Sector 3, 70018 Bucharest
(tel.: +4013155698 fax: +4013123819e -mail: adriana.paraschiv@osim.ro)

Mihaela-Rodica CIORA (Mrs.), Expert, State Institute for Variety Testing and Registration, Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Forestry, 61, Marasti, Sector 1, Bucharest
(tel.: +40212231425 fax: +40212225605e -mail: mihaela_ciora@gmx.net)

Ruxandra URUCU (Ms.), Legal Adviser, Legal and International Affairs Division, State Office for Inventions and Trademarks (OSIM), 5, Jon Ghica, Sector 3, P.O. Box 52, 70018 Bucharest
(tel.: +4013132492 fax: +4013123819e -mail: ruxandra.urucu@osim.ro)

ROYAUME-UNI/UNITED KINGDOM/VEREINIGTES KÖNIGREICH/REINOUNIDO

Michael MILLER, Policy Administrator, Plant Variety Rights Office and Seeds Division, Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), White House Lane, Huntingdon Road, Cambridge CB30LF
(tel.: +441223342375 fax: +441223342386e -mail: michael.miller@defra.gsi.gov.uk)

SLOVAQUIE/SLOVAKIA/SLOWAKEI/ESLOVAQUIA

Milan MÁJEK, First Secretary, Permanent Mission, 9, chemin del' Ancienne Route, 1218 Grand-Saconnex, Switzerland
(tel.: +41227477411 fax: +41227477434e -mail: milan.majek@ties.itu.int)

SLOVÉNIE/SLOVENIA/SLOWENIEN/ESLOVENIA

Joze ILERSIC, Counsellor, Administration for Plant Protection and Seeds, Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Food (MAFF), Dunajska 58, 1000 Ljubljana
(tel.: +38614363344 fax: +38614363312e -mail: joze.ilersic@gov.si)

SUÈDE/SWEDEN/SCHWEDEN/SUECIA

Karl Olov ÖSTER, Director - General, National Board of Fisheries; President, National Plant Variety Board, Ekelundsgatan 1, P.O. Box 423, 40126 Göteborg
(tel.: +46317430301 fax: +46317430444e -mail: karl.olv.oster@fiskeriverket.se)

Eva BERNDTSSON (Ms.), Legal Advisor, Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries, 10333 Stockholm
(tel.: +4684051107 fax: +468206496e -mail: eva.berndtsson@agriculture.ministry.se)

SUISSE/SWITZERLAND/SCHWEIZ/SUIZA

PierreAlexMIAUTON, Station fédérale de recherches en production végétale de Changins,
Case postale 254, 1260 Nyon 1
(tel.: +41 22 363 46 68 fax: +41 22 361 54 69 e-mail: pierre.miauton@ra.c.admin.ch)

Manuela BRAND (Frau), Koordinatorin, Büro für Sortenschutz, Bundesamt für
Landwirtschaft, Mattenhofstrasse 5, 3003 Bern
(tel.: +41 31 322 25 24 e-mail: manuela.brand@blw.admin.ch)

UKRAINE/UKRAINE/UCRANIA

Valentyna ZAVALEVSKA (Mrs.), First Deputy Chairman, State Service on Right Protection
for Plant Varieties, 15, Heneral Rodimtsev avul., Kyiv 03401
(tel.: +380 44 257 99 33 fax: +380 44 257 99 34 e-mail: vartest@iptelecom.net.ua)

Oksana ZHMURKO (Mrs.), Deputy Head, International Cooperation Department, State
Service on Right Protection for Plant Varieties, 15, Heneral Rodimtsev avul., 03041 Kyiv
(tel.: +380 44 257 99 38 fax: +380 44 257 99 34 e-mail: vartest@iptelecom.net.ua)

Mykola BOYKO, Leading Expert, State Service on Right Protection for Plant Varieties,
4, boulevard Lepse, 03067 Kyiv
(tel.: +380 44 490 75 75 fax: +380 44 490 45 01 e-mail: nikolay.boyko@monsanto.com.ua)

Roman SHMIDT, Deputy State Secretary, Ministry of Agrarian Policy, 24, Khreschatykstr.,
0100 Kyiv
(tel.: +380 44 228 79 42 fax: +380 44 228 82 85)

II. ÉTATS OBSERVATEURS/OBSERVER STATES/
BEOBACHTERSTAATEN/ESTADOS OBSERVADORES

ALGÉRIE/ALGERIA/ALGERIEN/ARGELIA

Abdelkarim OULDRAMOUL, Sous -directeur des homologations, Ministère de l'agriculture et
du développement rural (MADR), 12, boulevard Amirouche, Alger
(tel.: +213 21 71 17 12 fax: +213 21 42 93 49 e-mail: o.ramoul.a@caramail.com)

ÉGYPTE/EGYPT/ÄGYPTEN/EGIPTO

Gamale ISSAATTYA, Director, Breeders' Rights Department, Central Administration for
Seed Testing & Certification (CASC), 8 Gamma Street, P.O. Box 147, Giza, 12211 Cairo
(tel.: +202 572 08 39 fax: +202 572 59 98 e-mail: seedcert@brainy1.eg.com)

KAZAKHSTAN/KASACHSTAN/KAZAJSTÁN

MuratTASHIBAYEV, Counsellor, Permanent Mission, 10, chemin du Prunier, Case postale 6,
1218 Geneva, Switzerland (tel.: +41 22 788 6600)

PAKISTAN/PAKISTÁN

Qazi Mohammad KHALILULLAH, Counsellor, Permanent Mission, 56, rue de
Moillebeau, 1211 Geneva, Switzerland

THAÏLANDE/THAILAND/ TAILANDIA

Pisan LUETONGCHARG, Minister Counsellor, Permanent Mission, ICC - Bâtiment F - G,
20, route de Pré - Bois, C.P. 1848, 1215 Geneva 15, Switzerland
(tel.: +41 22 929 5200 fax: +41 22 791 0166e -mail: pisan@thaiwto.com)

TUNISIE/TUNISIA/TUNESIEN /TÚNEZ

Mounir BENREJIBA, Conseiller, Mission permanente, 58, rue de Moillebeau, 1211 Genève,
Suisse

TURQUIE/TURKEY/TÜRKEI/TURQUÍA

Kamil YILMAZ, Director, Variety Registration and Seed Certification Centre, Ministry of
Agriculture and Rural Affairs, P.O. Box 107, Yenimahalle - Ankara 06172
(tel.: +90 31 231 589 59 fax: +90 31 231 509 01e -mail: kamil_yilmaz@ankara.tagem.gov.tr)

III. ORGANISATIONS/ORGANIZATIONS/
ORGANISATIONEN/ORGANIZACIONES

ORGANISATION MONDIALE POUR LA PROTECTION DE LA PROPRIÉTÉ
INTELLECTUELLE (OMPI)/WORLD INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ORGANIZATION
(WIPO)/WELTORGANISATION FÜR GEISTIGES EIGENTUM (WIPO)/
ORGANIZACIÓN MUNDIAL DE LA PROPIEDAD INTELECTUAL (OMPI)

Karen LEE (Mrs.), Counsellor, Office of the Special Counsel to the Director General,
34, chemin des Colombettes, 1211 Genève 20
(tel.: +41 22 338 9960e -mail: karen.lee@wipo.int)

COMMUNAUTÉEUROPÉENNE/EUROPEANCOMMUNITY/EUROPÄISCHE
GEMEINSCHAFT/COMUNIDADEUROPEA

BartKIEWIET,President,CommunityPlantVarietyOffice(CPVO),3,boulevardMaréchal
Foch,B.P.2141,49021AngersCedex02,France
(tel.:+33241256410fax:+33241256410e-mail:kiewiet@cpvo.eu.int)

OFFICEEUROPÉENDESBREVETS(OEB)/EUROPEANPATENTOFFICE
(EPO)/EUROPÄISCHESPATENTAMT (EPA)/OFICINAEUROPEADE
PATENTES(OEP)

BartCLAES,PatentLawDepartment,EuropeanPatentOffice(EPO),Erhardstr.27,
80298 Munich,Germany
(tel.:+498923995156fax:+498923995153e-mail:bclaes@epo.org)

COMMUNAUTÉINTERNATIONALEDES OBTENEURS DE PLANTES
ORNAMENTALES ET FRUITIÈRES DE REPRODUCTION ASEXUÉE
(CIOPORA)/INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY OF BREEDERS OF
ASEXUALLY REPRODUCED ORNAMENTAL AND FRUIT TREE VARIETIES
(CIOPORA)/INTERNATIONALE GEMEINSCHAFT DER
ZÜCHTER VEGETATIV VERMEHRBARE RZIERUNDOBSTPFLANZEN(CIOPORA)/
COMUNIDAD INTERNACIONAL DE OBTENTORES DE
VARIEDADES ORNAMENTALES Y FRUTALES DE REPRODUCCIÓN
ASEXUADA(CIOPORA)

MaartenLEUNE,PresidentofCIOPORA,RoyaltyAdministrationInternational(RAI),
Naaldwijkseweg350,POBox 156,2690ADS- Gravenzande,Netherlands
(tel.:+31174820171fax:+31174820923)

RenéROYON,Secrétairegénéral,128,squareduGolf,06250 Mougins,France
(tel.:+33493900850fax:+33493900409e-mail:royon@club-internet.fr)

FÉDÉRATIONINTERNATIONALEDESSEMENCES(ISF)/INTERNATIONAL
SEEDFEDERATION(ISF)/INTERNATIONALERSAATGUTVERBAND(ISF)/
FEDERACIÓNINTERNACIONALDESEMILLAS(ISF)

BernardLEBUANEC,SecretaryGeneral,7,cheminduReposoir,1260Nyon,Switzerland
(tel.:+41223654420fax:+41223654421e-mail:fis@worldseed.org)

JeanDONNENWIRTH,InternationalIntellectualPropertyManager,PioneerHi-BredSARL,
chemindel'Enseigne,31840Aussone,France
(tel.+33561062000fax:+33561062091e-mail:jean.donnenwirth@pioneer.com)

LATIN-AMERICANFEDERATIONOFSEEDASSOCIATIONS(FELAS)/
FEDERACIÓNLATINOAMERICANADEASOCIACIONESDESEMILLISTAS
(FELAS)

JuanCarlosMARTÍNEZ,ResponsabledelaComunicaciónExterna,PaseoPamplona2,
Esc.1 -4ºA,50004Zaragoza,Es paña
(tel.:+34976212197fax:+34976226410e -mail:exterior@felas.org)

IV. BUREAU/OFFICERS/VORSITZ /OFICINA

NicoleBUSTIN(Ms.),Chairperson
DougWATERHOUSE,Vice -Chairman

V. BUREAU DE L'UPOV/OFFICE OF UPOV/BÜRO DER UPOV/
OFICINADELAUPOV

RolfJÖRDENS,ViceSecretary -General
PeterBUTTON,TechnicalDirector
RaimundoLAVIGNOLLE,SeniorCounsellor
MakotoTABATA,SeniorCounsellor
YolandaHUERTA(Mrs.),SeniorLegalOfficer
PaulTherenceSENGHOR,SeniorProgramOfficer
VladimirDE RBENSKIY,Consultant

[L'annexeII suit/
AnnexII follows/
AnlageII folgt/
Sigueel AnexoII]

ANNEXII

SPECIFIC ISSUES CONCERNING THE INTERFACE BETWEEN
PATENTS AND PLANT BREEDERS' RIGHTS

*Amendments to document CAJ/46/2 as agreed on October 21 and 22, 2002,
by the Administrative and Legal Committee at its forty-sixth session*

.....

“3. The purpose of this document is to consider the situation where, notwithstanding the fact that the subject matter of protection is different, the grant of a patent might inhibit the “breeder’s exemption” provided by the UPOV system of plant variety protection. ~~an overlap in the protection provided~~. It then considers the issues which may arise and addresses how a State may be able to preserve the breeder’s exemption within national legislation implementing the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS Agreement). ~~measures which might be taken to ensure that the patent and plant breeders’ rights systems continue to be mutually supportive in future.~~

“5. It is necessary to start by examining ~~the circumstances where~~ the scope of protection offered under the patent system and UPOV system ~~overlap, despite the fact that the subject matter of protection is different~~. In particular, this is explained in relation to this concern—the situation where, for example, the development of genetic engineering can result in a plant variety which will be protected as a plant variety, by a plant breeder’s right, but will also contain an invention protected by patent (e.g. patented genetic element). The issues which arise from such ~~overlapping~~ protection are a result of differences in the scope and exceptions for the two systems. These differences and the issues which arise are explored in the following section.

I. ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERLAPPING THE GRANTING OF PROTECTION

“Issues Which May Arise from Inhibition of the Breeder’s Exemption by the Granting of a Patent Arising from the Lack of a Breeder’s Exemption in Patents”

“16. Two main issues may arise if a patent inhibits from the lack of a ~~the~~ breeder’s exemption ~~in the patent system~~. Firstly, there ~~is~~ might be an imbalance between the UPOV system and patent system concerning the obligation to reward the right holder of the initial protected subject matter (i.e. patented invention or protected variety) as far as countries that are still bound by the 1961/72 and 1978 Acts of the UPOV Convention are concerned. This has been addressed by the provision for essentially derived varieties (EDV) in the 1991 Act of the UPOV Convention. Secondly, there is a need to consider how to maintain the ability to exercise the breeder’s exemption in the case of varieties which contain patented inventions. These issues are explained below.

Balancing the reward to the respective rightsholders (essentially derived varieties)

“17. The potential imbalance between the exceptions under the patent system and the UPOV system was known at the time of the development of the 1991 Act of the Convention...

“20. As explained in paragraphs 12 to 15, the patent system may require that the permission of the Gen -elem 1 patent holder is obtained *before any breeding work can begin*. In such circumstances, it might be ~~is much~~ more difficult for agreement to be reached between the variety owner and patent holder because the value of the end variety cannot be reliably estimated.

“21. The nature of the difference which exists between the two systems is not always fully understood. Thus, certain mechanisms, such as cross -compulsory licensing ~~arrangements~~ between patent holders and plant breeders’ rightsholders, which have been introduced by some members of the Union to address an imbalance ~~might will~~ fail to resolve the problem unless they ensure that the patent system allows the breeding of new varieties in the same way as provided by the UPOV Convention.

“22. Furthermore, with regard to the possible development of such mechanisms, it might be noted that the UPOV Convention makes it unnecessary to obtain a compulsory license for anything other than that strictly justified by public interest, as provided in Article 17(1) of the 1991 Act. Bearing in mind the breeder’s exemption in the UPOV Convention, the need to introduce a mechanism for a compulsory license on the basis of important technical advance of considerable economic significance, such as that provided in the TRIPS Agreement (Article 31(1)(i)) may not be justified, because if the new variety satisfied such a test, there would be a very strong incentive for the patent holder and variety owner to find a mutually beneficial arrangement.

“23. In conclusion, it is important to recognize that a basic principle of the breeder’s exemption, which allows the breeding of new varieties of plants using protected varieties, is not affected by the EDV concept and that the introduction of the EDV concept maintains the access of all varieties for breeding. However, it does provide a mechanism to ensure a suitable reward for plant breeders. ~~The patent system does not make specific provision for free access to plant material for breeding new varieties.~~

The ability to exercise the breeder’s exemption in the case of varieties containing patented inventions

“25. If a variety (variety X) contains a patented genetic element, it will be necessary for a breeder to assess if the process of breeding a new variety, using variety X as a parent, would infringe the patent covering the genetic element. The following hypothetical situations are intended to illustrate real outcomes ~~Variouseasesmayoccur~~:

Case 1: The act of using variety X, containing the patented genetic element, to cross with another variety *infringes* the patent ~~Furthermore, and:~~

(a) the permission of the patent holder *is* required to remove the patented genetic element from variety X.

- In this case, in practice, there is no longer any breeder’s exemption available on variety X because it cannot be used for breeding other varieties without the permission of the patent holder.

or

Case 2: ~~The act of using variety X, containing the patented genetic element, to cross with another variety infringes the patent. However,~~

(b) the permission of the patent holder *is not* required to remove the patented genetic element from variety X and the breeder removes the patented genetic

element before using variety X (minus the patented genetic element) for breeding.

-The breeder's exemption has not been completely lost in this case because a new variety could be bred without the permission of the patent holder. However, in practice, the breeder's exemption has been inhibited because of the need to remove the patented genetic element before starting the breeding work.

~~Case 3: The act of using variety X, containing the patented genetic element, to cross with another variety does not infringe the patent, but evaluation of the progeny infringes the patent, regardless of whether the progeny contains the patented genetic element. In this case, in practice, there is no longer any breeder's exemption available on variety X because it cannot be used for breeding other varieties without the permission of the patent holder.~~

Case 2 3: The act of using variety X, containing the patented genetic element, to cross with another variety *does not infringe* the patent. Evaluation of the progeny infringes the patent, but only where the progeny contains the patented genetic element.

(a) If the breeder is unable to screen all the progeny resulting from the cross, the evaluation of the progeny might be feared by the breeder to infringe the patent, regardless of whether the progeny contains the patented genetic element.

- In this case, in practice, there is no longer any breeder's exemption available on variety X because it would not be used for breeding other varieties without the permission of the patent holder.

~~Case 4: (b) If the breeder is able to screen all the progeny,~~

~~the breeder's exemption has not been completely lost in this case because a new variety could be bred without the permission of the patent holder, providing it did not contain the patented genetic element. However, in practice, the breeder's exemption has been inhibited because of the need to identify the progeny which contain the patented genetic element and remove these from the program.~~

~~"26. It is clear that patent protection of the genetic element, although the purpose of the patent in variety X is only to protect the genetic element, it can, in effect, confer the protection onto variety X and as a result negate or inhibit the breeder's exemption.~~

"27. The rapid progress in the development of genetic engineering raises the prospect that, in the foreseeable future, an ever increasing number of plant varieties will contain patented inventions. Furthermore, the varieties may contain several patented genetic elements, which would make the removal of the patented genetic elements, envisaged in cases 1(b) and 2(b) 2 and 4, difficult or impossible in practice. The practical consequence of this development may be that the breeder's exemption, which is an essential principle in the UPOV system of plant variety protection, would be lost or greatly weakened.

"II. PROVISIONS WITHIN THE TRIPS AGREEMENT WHICH MIGHT ALLOW THE PRESERVATION OF THE BREEDER'S EXEMPTION MEASURES WHICH MIGHT BE TAKEN TO ENSURE THAT THE PATENT AND PLANT BREEDERS' RIGHTS SYSTEMS CONTINUE TO BE MUTUALLY SUPPORTIVE IN THE FUTURE"

“28. Article 7 of the TRIPS Agreement states that “ The protection and enforcement of intellectual property rights should contribute to the *promotion of technological innovation* and to the *transfer and dissemination of technology*, to the mutual advantage of producers and users of technological knowledge and in a manner conducive to social and economic welfare, and to a *balance of rights and obligations*” (emphasis added). Furthermore, the TRIPS Agreement provides (Article 8(2)) that “Appropriate measures, provided that they are consistent with the provisions of this Agreement, may be needed to prevent the abuse of intellectual property rights by right holders or the resort to practices which unreasonably restrain trade or *adversely affect the international transfer of technology* ” (emphasis added).

“29. As explained in paragraph 12, the exceptions to the rights conferred by a patent under Article 30 of the TRIPS Agreement are not specific. This means that a State may be able to implement Article 30 ~~there may be scope for these to be interpreted~~ in a way that protects which will not undermine the UPOV system of plant variety protection and, in particular, the breeder’s exemption.

30. ~~The Committee is invited to note:~~

(a) to note that the EDV provision in the UPOV Convention provides a mechanism for forwarding plant breeders ~~and but, unlike the patent system,~~ ensures that the development of new varieties is not inhibited;

(b) to note the potential difficulties in using cross-compulsory licensing as a means to address the lack of a breeder’s exemption in the patents system;

(c) to note the consequences for breeding progress if the breeder’s exemption is negated or inhibited through the presence of patented inventions in plant varieties and;

(d) to recommend to members of the Union to consider, where appropriate, whether the nature of the research exemption in their patent laws concerning plants might inhibit the breeder’s exemption ~~to consider what measures might be appropriate to address the threat to the breeder’s exemption.”~~

[Annex III follows]

ANNEXIII

EXTENSION OF PROTECTION TO HYBRID VARIETIES THROUGH PROTECTION OF PARENT LINES

*Document agreed on October 21 and 22, 2002,
by the Administrative and Legal Committee at its forty-sixth session*

1. The purpose of this document is, in response to a request from the Technical Committee (hereinafter referred to as “the TC”), to consider the protection of hybrid varieties through protection of parent lines.
2. At its thirty-eight session, held in Geneva from April 15 to 17, 2002, the TC heard from the International Seed Federation (ISF) that breeders of seed-propagated ornamental plants are considering how to utilize the UPOV system of plant variety protection in a way that would serve the breeding activities and economics in their sector. This discussion has, at least in part, been triggered because the development of seed-propagated varieties by breeders of ornamental plants is a relatively new development, compared to the more traditional approach of breeding vegetatively propagated varieties.
3. One particular development in seed-propagated ornamental plant varieties has been the introduction of hybrid varieties. In some cases, the same parent line is used in many different hybrid varieties and breeders, conscious of the cost of protecting all the individual hybrid varieties noted that, in such cases, protection of a series of hybrid varieties could be achieved by protection of the single parent line common to all the hybrids in the series, provided that the parent line fulfilled all the conditions for, and is granted, protection.
4. The UPOV Convention does indeed provide protection with regard to the use of the protected variety as a parent for the production and exploitation of a hybrid variety. Thus, Article 14(5) (a)(iii) of the 1991 Act states that the provisions for protected varieties extend to varieties (i.e. hybrid varieties in this case) “whose production requires the repeated use of the protected variety” —the protected variety being the parent line. This wording establishes that, regardless of whether the seed of the hybrid is produced in another country —even one without plant variety protection —seed of the hybrid must not be imported, marketed or sold in a country where a parent line is protected, without the authorization of the breeder. This is because the seed of the hybrid is the propagating material of the variety whose production requires the repeated use of the protected variety and the acts covered in Article 14(1)(a), such as selling, marketing and importing, require the authorization of the breeder. However, it should be noted that, for example, the use of parent lines might not be required if a “hybrid” variety can be produced by vegetative propagation or pomixis.
5. Similarly, the 1978 Act provides protection for the hybrid through protection of a parent line in Article 5(3), which provides that authorization of the breeder is required with respect to a protected variety for the “utilization of the variety as an initial source of variation for the purpose of creating other varieties or for the marketing of such varieties . . . when the repeated use of the variety is necessary for the commercial production of another variety.” However, in this case the protection of a parent line in country A might not provide effective protection of the hybrid in country A if the seed of the hybrid is produced in country B, where country B

does not apply the UPOV Convention. This is because, in country B, there is no restriction on the use of the parent lines and it might be considered that there is no repeated use of the parent line in country A. Thus, it will be a matter for each State party to the 1978 Act to interpret Article 5(3) of that Act and to decide whether, in this situation, a hybrid would be covered by the protection of one or more of the parent lines.

6. ~~Thus~~ In conclusion, on the basis described in this document, the UPOV Convention allows a breeder and not just breeders of ornamental plants, to obtain ~~extend~~ protection ~~for to~~ his their hybrid varieties by protection of one or more of the parent lines, if there is repeated use of such parent lines for the production of the hybrid varieties. It will be for each breeder to decide whether this is the most appropriate route to protection according to their particular circumstances.

[End of Annex III and of document]